SCA EFiled: Dec 01 2022

02:47PM EST

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIPASSACTION ID 68484062

THE MERCER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION AND DR. DEBORAH AKERS,

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

V.

AMANDA SHREWSBURY

Respondent Below, Respondent.

From the Circuit Court of Mercer County, West Virginia
The Honorable Mark Wills
Civil Action No. 19-C-108

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Chip E. Williams, WV State Bar No. 8116

cwilliams@pffwv.com

Jared C. Underwood, WV State Bar No. 12141

junderwood@pffwv.com

PULLIN, FOWLER, FLANAGAN, BROWN & POE, PLLC

252 George Street

Beckley, WV 25801

Counsel for Petitioners Mercer County Board of

Education and Dr. Deborah Akers

ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 1: THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MERCER COUNTY ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT THESE PETITIONERS WERE ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY.

Governmental officials who are acting within the scope of their authority and are not covered by the provisions of W.Va. Code §29-12A-1 et seq. [the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act], are entitled to qualified immunity with respect to the discretionary judgments, decisions, and actions of the governmental official insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known. W.Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492. 766 S.E.2d 751, 755 (2014); Syl. pt. 6, Clark v. Dunn, 195 W.Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 374 (1995); Syl. Pt. 4, City of Saint Albans v. Botkins, 228 W.Va. 393, 719 S.E.2d 863 (2011). Qualified immunity is immunity from suit rather than mere defense to liability. Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 129 S. Ct. 808, 172 L. Ed. 2d 565 (2009). Moreover, the immunity of the governmental agency is coterminous with the qualified immunity of a governmental official whose acts or omissions give rise to the case. W. Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751, 755 (2014). "The ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine." Hutchison at Syl. pt. 1; Syl. pt. 3, W. Virginia Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014).

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 2: THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MERCER COUNTY ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT ALL OF RESPONDENT'S NEGLIGENCE CAUSES OF ACTION WERE CATEGORICALLY BARRED BY THE DOCTRINE OF QUALIFIED IMMUNITY.

In Counts V and VII, Respondent brings various negligence claims against these Petitioners. However, the doctrine of qualified immunity bars claims of mere negligence against governmental agencies not within the purview of the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, W. Va. Code §29-12A-1, et seq., and against an officer of that department acting within the scope of his or her employment, with respect to the discretionary judgments, decisions, and actions of the officer. Syl. pt. 6, *Clark v. Dunn*, 195 W. Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 374 (1995); Accord *Jarvis v. W. Va. State Police*, 227 W. Va. 472, 481–82, 711 S.E.2d 542, 551–52 (2010).

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 3: THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MERCER COUNTY ERRED IN FINDING THAT WHETHER THE RESPONDENT SUSTAINED AN ADVERSE EMPLOYMENT ACTION WAS A QUESTION OF FACT.

There is no genuine issue of material fact that Respondent's contract of employment with Mercer County Schools, was and remains, as a substitute teacher. Respondent's employment with the Mercer County Board of Education was never terminated and remains the same to date.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 4: THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MERCER COUNTY ERRED IN FAILING TO PROVIDE ANY SPECIFIC ANALYSIS AS TO THE CLAIMS AGAINST PETITIONER, DR. DEBORAH AKERS. MOREOVER, COUNTS I AND II AGAINST DR. AKERS MUST FAIL AS SHE IS INCAPABLE OF TERMINATING THE RESPONDENT'S EMPLOYMENT.

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR NO. 5: THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MERCER COUNTY ERRED IN FINDING THAT A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED AS TO THE NEGLIGENT SUPERVISION CLAIMS ASSERTED AGAINST THESE PETITIONERS.

The underlying "negligence," which forms the basis of such claims, is the alleged assault and battery of Respondent purportedly committed by Non-Participant, Alma Belcher. Ms. Belcher was dismissed from the underlying matter. The lower court dismissed a claim of assault and battery against Ms. Belcher. The prerequisite for any negligent supervision claim is that the alleged underlying conduct must be negligent. Here, the Respondent does not allege that the alleged conduct of Ms. Belcher was negligent but instead alleges that it was intentional.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from the Circuit Court of Mercer's County's partial denial of the Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment. The underlying civil action arises from allegations that Respondent Amanda Shrewsbury's employment with the Mercer County Board of Education ("MCBE") was "wrongfully terminated," that the Respondent sustained an assault and battery, and that the Defendants negligently and intentionally inflicted emotional distress upon the Respondent. AR at pp. 9-18. The Respondent named the MCBE; Former Superintendent of Mercer County Schools, Dr. Deborah Akers; Principal, Steve Hayes; and former teacher, Alma Belcher as Defendants. *Id.*

The Respondent, Amanda Shrewsbury, was employed as a substitute teacher's aide at Cumberland Heights Early Learning Center ('Cumberland Heights') located in Bluefield, Mercer County, West Virginia. *Id.* at p. 12; *see also* AR at p. 70. The Respondent is a substitute teacher's aide and, therefore, participates in the "call system." AR at p. 71. The Respondent

has been registered in the eSchool call system since December 8th, 2015. AR at p. 80. Importantly, the Respondent has had a contract with the Mercer County Board of Education since the 2014-2015 school year through the present date. See AR at pp. 71 and 576.

During the 2018-2019 school year, it was determined that the Cumberland Heights enrollment was such that it needed a teacher and teacher's aide. AR at p. 138. Shrewsbury was called out to serve as a substitute teacher's aide. *Id*. The teacher in Respondent's classroom at the time was also a substitute, Carolyn Hayes. *Id*. at p. 139.

Ms. Hayes left Cumberland Heights and a new substitute teacher was placed in the classroom, Alma Belcher. AR at p. 142. Shrewsbury knew her position as a substitute teacher's aide was temporary; she texted a classroom parent "that's my last day. I agreed to stay so that they [the students] could have time to get to know Alma and I only do this part time... So I took the job and was just supposed to be there until October 1st... then I was asked to stay until the transition and I agreed... I'm sorry but I really had not planned to be there this long." AR at p. 144.

On December 6, 2018, the Respondent was involved in a verbal confrontation with another substitute teacher, Shrewsbury advised Mr. Hayes "that Ms. Belcher was yelling at the kids, and was forcing them to sit down." AR at p. 143. At that time, Mrs. Belcher had been experiencing difficulties with the Respondent as she was texting during class and using her cell phone to call parents to tell them that their child is sick and to come pick them up without Ms. Belcher's knowledge. Respondent was also texting parents photographs of other children.

On January 4, 2019, Shrewsbury had a confrontation with Mrs. Belcher in the lunchroom. Presumably, this is the incident, which is referenced in Paragraph 15 and Counts V and VII of the Complaint. This is the incident which the lower court construed to form the

basis of such claims. The day before, on January 3rd, 2019, a parent had requested his child not sit with two other students. AR at p. 145. Reportedly, on January 4th, the child "sat down beside a friend and not near the two other students. Amanda... was moving the students together that the parent did not want near each other. [Mrs. Belcher] called her aside and told her she could not do this because the parent made a request and [Mrs. Belcher] was honoring that request. In a loud voice [Shrewsbury] told [Mrs. Belcher] that they wanted to eat with her and she was [d]oing this and they were going to move beside her. In a stern voice [Mrs. Belcher] informed [Shrewsbury] that [Mrs. Belcher] was the Teacher and [Mrs. Belcher] was honoring a parent request. In a loud voice [Shrewsbury] said that [Mrs. Belcher] was unfair, and she was filing a grievance." *Id.* Elaborating on the incident, in Mr. Hayes' "Performance Evaluation Report for Substitute Personnel" he indicated:

On January 4, 2019, Mrs. Amanda Shrewsbury, engaged in a verbal confrontation with her classroom teacher (Alma Belcher) during the student lunch period. According to written statements from 7 MCELC employees present during the altercation, Mrs. Shrewsbury became agitated with the classroom teacher and the volume of her voice got louder and louder. Several statements indicated that Mrs. Shrewsbury was yelling at Mrs. Belcher and making allegations that Mrs. Belcher had disrespected her. According to eyewitnesses, Mrs. Belcher remained calm during this incident and kept reiterating to Amanda that she was the classroom teacher.

Let it be known that this incident occurred while the entire student body of MCELC was present. Also be advised that Mrs. Shrewsbury was asked to provide a statement but has yet to turn one in.

AR at p. 146. As Mr. Hayes indicated, the statements of Shrewsbury's co-workers corroborate Mrs. Belcher's statement of events. Indeed, within a matter of days, Dr. Filipek was sent a letter signed by ten of Shrewsbury's co-workers, including Shrewsbury's mother-in-law, requesting Shrewsbury's termination:

We, the staff at Mercer County Early Learning Center: Bluefield, are writing this letter in regards to a long-term sub who has been at our school since the beginning of the 2018-2019 School Year. Her name is Amanda

Shrewsbury. She has been working as a Transportation & Classroom Aide....

We have experienced numerous problems and issues with her throughout the year. We have witnessed Amanda violating the Professional Code of Ethics and the Employee Code of Conduct... This has created a hostile work environment and we fear for our safety and for that of the children we teach on a daily basis. We have witnessed Amanda verbally attack two Mercer County School Employees on two separate occasions in front of teachers and students. Amanda has been seen on her phone while supervising children on multiple occasions and has stated that she was communicating via text and email with parents on a daily basis. Amanda has made libelous comments about coworkers to others in the community, one of which is under investigation by the Mercer County Board of Education. We feel that she has been reprimanded for her behavior but has continued in an unprofessional manner throughout the year.

As teachers and aides we are all held to a standard. Under the circumstances and due to her continued violation of county policies, Amanda Shrewsbury's presence in our school has created a hostile work environment and an unsafe atmosphere for the adults and an unhealthy atmosphere for the children in attendance. As a sub, who has committed so many flagrant offences, Amanda Shrewsbury should be removed from our school and the county sub list. She simply does not need to be working in a school setting with our most precious resource, our children. We have grave concerns about Amanda's mental health.

AR at p. 150.

On January 11, 2019, Mr. Hayes evaluated Shrewsbury and determined that she did not meet the expectations of an aide. Shrewsbury was advised that texting parents is "a direct violation of Mercer County Schools policies on confidentiality." AR at p. 146. Mr. Hayes, along with the Assistant Director of Special Education, Emily Huddle, met with Shrewsbury who provided a "synopsis" of events occurring in the cafeteria on January 4, 2019. AR at p. 152. The "synopsis" further outlines a number of incidents in which Mrs. Belcher purportedly abused the students. *Id.* Dr. Akers also testified that she was unaware of any such allegation until Monday, January 14, 2019. *Id.* Shrewsbury also reported Mrs. Belcher's alleged misconduct to the Department of Health and Human Resources. AR at p. 153. Notably, the Department of Health

and Human Resources determined that "Child abuse has not occurred." *Id.* The record is devoid of any evidence that these Petitioners were aware of any report of alleged abuse to DHHR prior to January 11, 2019.

Shrewsbury alleges that her employment at Mercer County Board of Education was terminated on January 11, 2019. AR at pp. 65-66. Shrewsbury seems to allege that, Principal, Mr. Hayes was instructed by Dr. Deborah Akers, Mercer County Schools Superintendent, to advise Respondent not to accept positions if called. AR at pp. 72-73. However, in actuality, Shrewsbury suffered no adverse employment action and she failed to accept any other position with the MCBE the following school year. AR at p. 140. As stated by Rachel Cole, who oversees the call system for Mercer County Schools, the Respondent is still active. AR at pp. 79-80. Perhaps more importantly, Shrewsbury concedes she was employed with Mercer County Schools after January 11, 2019. AR at p. 70.

In short, Respondent Amanda Shrewsbury was never terminated. Rather, Shrewsbury's position at Cumberland Heights was temporary. Shrewsbury concedes that she was never taken off the substitute call list and has been called for, and accepted, other substitute positions <u>after</u> she left Cumberland Heights. AR at p. 169. In fact, Shrewsbury was called <u>593 times</u> when she was either "not reached" or did not answer. AR at pp. 74 and 85.

A hearing on these Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment and all other Motions for Summary Judgment, was conducted on July 20, 2022. Following oral argument, the Court issued its Order granting in part and denying in part these Petitioners' Motion for Summary Judgment. Specifically, the Court denied these Petitioners' Motion as to Counts I, II, V, and the negligent supervision portion of Count VII. The Order fails to specifically address the application of qualified immunity in the subject matter.

These Petitioners maintain that the lower court erred in deciding the issue of qualified immunity and other arguments asserted in these Petitioners' Motion. These Petitioners also maintain that the Respondent's claims against these Petitioners are barred by the doctrine of qualified immunity and other arguments set forth herein and form the basis of this interlocutory appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

First, the Petitioners maintain that the lower court committed reversible error (1) not expressly holding that qualified immunity applied to the claims being asserted by the Respondent, (2) not making any finding that the Respondent identified a clearly established statutory or constitutional right of the Respondent that these Petitioners allegedly violated, and (3) not finding that qualified immunity barred the Respondent's remaining causes of action not previously dismissed. Second, the Petitioners maintains that the lower court erred in not finding that qualified immunity is a categorical bar to the negligence claims being asserted by Respondent. Third, the lower court erred in finding that there existed a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the Plaintiff sustained any "adverse employment action." Fourth, the lower court erred in not providing any independent analysis as to the claims being asserted against Petitioner, Dr. Akers and moreover, Counts I and II of the Complaint fail as to Petitioner, Dr. Akers as she is not capable of terminating the Respondent's employment and the Respondent's employment was never terminated. Last, the Petitioners maintain that any negligent supervision claim contained within Counts V and VII must fail as a matter of law as the alleged underlying conduct of Belcher was not negligent but intentional and criminal.

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Petitioner respectfully states that oral argument is unnecessary pursuant to Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure regarding the specific assignments of error.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

"This Court reviews de novo the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court." Syl. Pt. 2, *Crouch v. Gillispie*, 240 W. Va. 229, 809 S.E.2d 699 (2018) (quoting Syl. Pt. 1, *Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co.*, 213 W. Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002)).

A motion for summary judgment should be granted where the pleadings, exhibits, and discovery forming the basis for the motion reveal that the case contains no genuine issue of material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Redden v. Comer*, 200 W. Va. 209, 211, 488 S.E.2d 484, 486 (1997). "Summary judgment is appropriate if, from the totality of the evidence presented, the record could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the nonmoving party, such as where the nonmoving party has failed to make a sufficient showing on an essential element of the case that it has the burden to prove." Syl. Pt. 3, *Brady v. Deals on Wheels, Inc.*, 208 W. Va. 636, 542 S.E.2d 457, 462 (W. Va. 2000) (quoting Syl. Pt. 2, *Williams v. Precision Coil, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 52, 459 S.E.2d 329 (1995).

This Honorable Court has held that "claims of immunities, where ripe for disposition, should be summarily decided before trial." *Robinson v. Pack*, 223 W. Va. 828, 831, 679 S.E.2d 660 (2009); see also *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 147, 479 S.E.2d 649 (1996). This is so because, "[i]mmunities under West Virginia law are more than a defense to a suit in that they grant governmental bodies and public officials the right not to be subject to the

burden of trial at all. The very heart of the immunity defense is that it spares the defendant from having to go forward with an inquiry into the merits of the case." *Hutchison*, 198 W. Va. at 148, 479 S.E.2d 649 (citing *Swint v. Chambers County Commission*, 514 U.S. 35, 115 S.Ct. 1203 (1995)).

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF MERCER COUNTY ERRED IN NOT FINDING THAT THESE PETITIONERS WERE ENTITLED TO QUALIFIED IMMUNITY.

The Petitioner maintains that the Circuit Court erred in (1) not expressly holding that qualified immunity applied to the claims being asserted by the Respondent, (2) not making any finding that the Respondent identified a clearly established statutory or constitutional right of the Respondent that these Petitioners allegedly violated, and (3) not finding that qualified immunity barred the Respondent's remaining causes of action not previously dismissed. The Order fails to address the specific applicability of qualified immunity to the facts and allegations being asserted in this matter. AR at pp. 604-614.

Governmental officials who are acting within the scope of their authority and are not covered by the provisions of W.Va. Code §29-12A-1 et seq. [the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act], are entitled to qualified immunity with respect to the discretionary judgments, decisions, and actions of the governmental official insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known. W.Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492. 766 S.E.2d 751, 755 (2014); Syl. pt. 6, Clark v. Dunn, 195 W.Va. 272, 465 S.E.2d 374 (1995); Syl. Pt. 4, City of Saint Albans v. Botkins, 228 W.Va. 393, 719 S.E.2d 863 (2011). Qualified immunity is immunity from suit rather than mere defense to liability. Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 129 S. Ct. 808, 172 L. Ed. 2d 565 (2009). Moreover, the immunity of

the governmental agency is coterminous with the qualified immunity of a governmental official whose acts or omissions give rise to the case. W. Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751, 755 (2014). "The ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine." Hutchison at Syl. pt. 1; Syl. pt. 3, W. Virginia Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W. Va. 492, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014). Once the qualified immunity defense is asserted, the burden then shifts to the plaintiff to defeat the immunity. Underlying qualified immunity is the need to enable government officials to act decisively without undue fear of judicial second guessing. Swanson v. Powers, 937 F.2d 965, 967 (4th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 502 U.S. 1031 (1992); Akers v. Caperton, 998 F.2d 220, 225-226 (4th Cir. 1993).

The Mercer County Board of Education is comprised of elected governmental officials who appoint the Superintendent of Schools. It is undisputed that the acts of the members of these Petitioners, the Mercer County Board of Education and former Superintendent of Mercer County Schools, Dr. Akers, occurred within the scope of their employment as the Complaint indicates that all conduct of these Petitioners were within the scope of their employment. AR at pp. 12-13.

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