No. 22-745

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGUALABOM EST Transaction ID 69084248

THE MERCER COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATON AND DR. DEBORAH AKERS, Defendants Below, Petitioners,

v.

AMANDA SHREWSBURY, Plaintiff Below, Respondent.

From the Circuit Court of Mercer County, West Virginia The Honorable Mark Wills Civil Action No. 19-C-108

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

/s/ JB Akers

JB Akers, WV State Bar No. 8083 jb@akerslawoffices.com PO Box 11206 Charleston, WV 25339 Counsel for Respondent, Amanda Shrewsbury

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

II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The circuit court correctly denied Petitioners' motion for summary judgment related to Counts I, II, V and VII of Respondent's Complaint. There is no qualified immunity for the Respondent's employment claims and there remain genuine issues of material fact in dispute regarding Respondent's negligent supervision claims. Respondent alleges she faced workplace reprisal as a result of reporting student abuse by a teacher at her school, which is protected activity under the public policy of this State. The circuit court's Order was correct, should be affirmed and this case should be remanded so that the Respondent may have her day in court.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Due to the significant implications of this case, that extend beyond these parties, Respondent believes oral argument is appropriate pursuant to Rule 18 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. As outlined later in this Brief, the dispositive issue or issues have not been authoritatively decided and the Respondent believes the decisional process would be significantly aided by oral argument. This is obviously at the Court's discretion.

IV. LAW AND ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Respondent generally agrees with the standard of review outlined in Petitioner's Brief to the extent that it applies to the appellate review of Rule 56(c) summary judgment rulings. Respondent further notes that "any permissible inference from the underlying facts [must be viewed] in the most favorable light to the party opposing the motion." <u>Williams v. Precision</u> <u>Coil, Inc.</u>, 194 W.Va. 52, 59, 459 S.E.2d 329, 336 (1995) (citations omitted). "In assessing the factual record, we must grant the nonmoving party the benefit of inferences, as '[c]redibility

determinations, the weighing of the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge[.]'" (citations omitted). Id.¹¹

Respondent also generally agrees with the legal standard included within Petitioners' Brief regarding qualified immunity. However, Respondent disagrees that a qualified immunity analysis even applies in this case. Petitioners either misunderstand the application of the qualified immunity defense or are attempting to redefine it in such a way that public entities are protected from employment claims for which qualified immunity does not apply.

B. Qualified Immunity Does Not Shield These Petitioners from Trial.¹²

Petitioners' qualified immunity argument remains misguided before this Court, as it was before the trial court. As Respondent noted at the summary judgment stage, this possibly arises from this Court previously writing, "admittedly, our case law analyzing and applying the various governmental immunities—sovereign, judicial, quasi-judicial, qualified, and statutory—to the vast array of governmental agencies, officials, employees and widely disparate factual underpinnings has created a patchwork of holdings." <u>West Virginia Dep't of Health & Human Res. v. Payne</u>, 231 W.Va. 563, 580, 746 S.E.2d 554, 571 (W.Va. 2013). Petitioners concede they are not entitled to the immunity protections of W.Va. Code §29-12A-1 et seq. (the West Virginia Governmental Torts Claims and Insurance Reform Act, or "GTCA"). This is because

¹¹ Respondent recognizes that arguments such as those surrounding qualified immunity usually turn on legal grounds. However, throughout their Brief the Petitioners included (disputed) facts that have no bearing on a purely legal analysis. To the extent that Petitioners attempted to color this Court's decision with allegedly negative facts about the Respondent, those facts must be construed in Respondent's favor. Moreover, many of those purported facts post-dated the lynchpin events in this case. By example, Petitioners allege (which was disputed at the trial level) that they called the Respondent out for substitute positions hundreds of times after she lost her full-time job at Cumberland Heights. Those calls occurred after the adverse employment events of which Respondent complains had already occurred and are irrelevant to the issues on appeal. Petitioners allege this shows that the Respondent was not "terminated." However, it is undisputed that she had already been removed from her full-time job is proof of illegal retaliatory conduct. Petitioners are attempting to create negative inferences around the Respondent despite the requirement that those inferences must be weighed for her and against them.

¹² This portion of Respondent's Brief relates to Petitioners' first two assignments of error, which both deal with qualified immunity arguments.

county boards of education are expressly liable for employment claims under W.Va. Code § 29-12A-18(b).

This Court held long ago that "[1]ocal boards of education do not have state constitutional immunity nor common law governmental immunity from suit." Syl., <u>Ohio Valley Contractors v.</u> <u>The Board of Education of Wetzel County</u>, 170 W.Va. 240, 293 S.E.2d 437 (1982). It was because of <u>Ohio Valley Contractors</u>, and related cases such as the abolition of municipal immunity, the GTCA was passed in 1986.¹³ In other words, a statutory grant of immunity was required expressly because no other immunity existed for county school boards. That statutory immunity then expressly carved out exception for employment claims such the one currently before this Court. Nevertheless, Petitioners continue grasping for immunity regardless of their wrongdoing, now in the form of qualified immunity.

Perhaps it is because of the existing "patchwork" of immunity holdings that Petitioners rely heavily upon <u>Mercer County Bd. of Educ. v. Ruskauff</u>, No. 18-0711, 2019 W.Va. LEXIS 514 (Nov. 4, 2019). <u>Ruskauff</u> is a memorandum decision issued under Rule 21 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Petitioners may admittedly cite to that case under Rule 21(e). However, as a memorandum decision <u>Ruskauff</u> is an abbreviated, "limited circumstances" 21(d) ruling that does not contain any syllabus points and was not published in the West Virginia Reports. In short, while any decision of this Court has value and is due consideration, <u>Ruskauff</u> is not authoritative on any specific issue and does not settle this matter in Petitioners' favor. The facts are different. No points of law were made.¹⁴

¹³ Municipal immunity was abolished in Long v. City of Weirton, 158 W.Va. 741, 214 S.E.2d 832 (1975).

¹⁴ <u>Ruskauff</u> is the only authority, via Memorandum Decision, Petitioners pointed to for their novel legal argument that political subdivision employment claims are shielded by qualified immunity while concurrently and expressly allowed by West Virginia Code §29-12A-18(b).

At the outset, for whatever reason, the board of education employee/plaintiff in <u>Ruskauff</u> did not dispute that qualified immunity existed in her case. Respondent made no such concession here and still denies that this employment case falls within that court-defined concept.¹⁵ After conceding qualified immunity the <u>Ruskauff</u> plaintiff then argued that the Board violated a clearly established right, with which this Court disagreed. However, that alleged right revolved around general privacy claims that are inapposite here.

Moreover, just as they did at the circuit court level, the Petitioners twisted their immunity argument to ostensibly fit a square peg into around hole. The best example of this is found in a conclusory sentence of Petitioners' Brief where they write:

Therefore, because Petitioners are a governmental agency and a governmental officer not covered under W.Va. Code §29-12A-1 *et seq.*, and any alleged conduct that they engaged in was discretionary, and the Respondent has failed to cite to any statutory or constitutional right to [sic] that these Petitioners violated, the Respondent's claims are barred by the doctrine of qualified immunity.

Petitioner's Brief (Tr. No. 68484062) at 18.¹⁶ In other words, the Petitioners make the extraordinary concession that they are not immune from employment claims under the GTCA,

¹⁵ Respondent has no idea why the <u>Ruskauff</u> plaintiff agreed to a qualified immunity defense in her employment case, which appeared inapplicable. Perhaps some strategic decision was made. Or maybe it was a simple miscalculation. Regardless, that was an uncontested finding with no legal analysis and no points of law on immunity were provided. This Respondent could not disagree more that qualified immunity applies to these types of employment claims. A different finding here than in <u>Ruskauff</u> will have no impact on existing authority since that case made no points of law.

¹⁶ Respondent also notes the contradiction that exists in Petitioner's Response to Respondent's pending Motion to Dismiss (Tr. No. 68878289). In that Response, Petitioners offered no substantive legal support for the clear jurisdictional defect related to their late filed appeal. However, they did criticize the Respondent for filing her Motion to Dismiss after Petitioners filed their appellate Brief, and not before. Never mind whether Respondent believed the jurisdictional defect may have been addressed in that Brief, or the fact that she was legally allowed to raise a jurisdictional defect "at any time." Regardless, Petitioners could have likewise raised their qualified immunity defense "at any time" during the underlying litigation. *See, by example,* Syl. pt.2, <u>The West Virginia State Police v. J.H.</u>, 244 W.Va. 720, 856 S.E.2d 679 (2021) ("A circuit court's denial of a motion to dismiss that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the 'collateral order' doctrine.") (citation omitted). Instead Petitioners waited until after this case was fully litigated (by the hour) before filing a motion for summary judgment alleging qualified immunity. In her response to that motion

but then allege this must mean they are immune vis-à-vis qualified immunity. They also remarkably claim that the Respondent pointed to no statutory rights violations, when she clearly did so at the trial court level both in her briefing and at oral argument. AR at 377; 615.

Before pointing out those statutory violations, it requires extreme credulity to believe the Legislature specifically excluded employment claims like this one from statutory immunity so that these Petitioners could then simply fall back onto a wholly separate, judicially created immunity. If political subdivisions/boards of education were meant to have legal immunity from employment claims then our Legislature, the public policy making branch of government, would have afforded it.¹⁷ "Just as courts are not to eliminate through judicial interpretation words that were purposely included, we are obliged to not add to statutes something the Legislature purposely omitted." <u>Phillips v. Larry's Drive-In Pharmacy. Inc.</u>, 220 W.Va. 484, 491, 647 S.E.2d 920, 927 (2007). The Petitioners are asking this Court to give them back an immunity that our Legislature expressly excluded, which would contravene the clear legislative intent to allow employment claims against political subdivisions.

the Respondent did not raise the timing or criticize the Petitioners for bringing up a defense at the Pretrial that they could have raised in their initial pleading. After all, qualified immunity is a legal defense that does not turn upon the facts of the case and could have been argued at the 12(b)(6) stage, right out of the gate. In any event, Respondent did not personalize Petitioner's underlying litigation strategy in a case with over 180 circuit court docket entries (AR at 2-10), she simply responded to the motion for summary judgment. Respondent thought Petitioners' counsel was doing their job, just as her counsel did his.

¹⁷ In a different context, this Court has held, in part, "In considering the constitutionality of a legislative enactment, courts must exercise due restraint, in recognition of the separation of powers in government among the judicial, legislative and executive branches. Every reasonable construction must be resorted to by the courts in order to sustain constitutionality, and any reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment in question. Courts are not concerned with questions relating to legislative policy. The general powers of the legislature, within constitutional limits, are almost plenary. In considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power must appear beyond reasonable doubt." Syl. Pt. 1, <u>State ex rel. Appalachian Power Co. v. Gainer</u>, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351 (1965). This case does not involve the constitutionality of a statute, but this Court has clearly spoken on its deference to legitimate legislative action. Respondent notes more than once in her Brief - if the Legislature wanted immunity for political subdivisions/county boards of education in employment claims, it would not have expressly removed that protection under West Virginia Code §29-12A-18(b).

Petitioners wrongly point to State agency cases for the proposition that they are likewise similarly shielded. Those cases include <u>W.Va. Reg'l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B.</u>, 234 W.Va. 496, 766 S.E.2d 751 (2014) and <u>W.Va. Bd. of Educ. v. Marple</u>, 236 654, 663 S.E.2d 75 (2015), in which State entities and/or officials were granted qualified immunity from various claims. <u>A.B.</u>, importantly did not involve employment claims but, rather, revolved around allegations of sexual misconduct by a corrections officer against an inmate. Petitioners may want to quickly assert that <u>Marple</u> did involve employment related decisions. However, even a cursory look at those cases shows why they do not apply here.

In <u>A.B.</u> this Court distinctly noted the differences between claims against the State versus political subdivisions (i.e. – boards of education):

The paucity of guidance on the vicarious liability of the State and its agencies, both in West Virginia and other jurisdictions, is occasioned almost entirely by the fact most other jurisdictions have enacted some form of tort claims act which governs action against the state and its agencies. In West Virginia, however, the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, West Virginia Code §29-12A-1 *et seq.*, is limited to political subdivisions and their employees and does not cover claims made against the State or its agencies.

<u>A.B.</u> at 502, 761. This single statement, in one of Petitioners' primary sources of authority, eviscerates the foundation of their immunity argument. This Court recognized that immunity for political subdivisions/boards of education was legislatively provided, a critical distinction from the State, which has no such legislative protection.¹⁸

This distinction is even more important in cases such as <u>Marple</u>, which did involve an employment action, also in relation to a board of education, but at the State level. That case

¹⁸ These types of distinctions exist throughout immunity law holdings. By well-known example, 42 U.S.C. 1983 claims are permissible against municipalities and municipal officers. *See*, <u>Monell v. Department of Social Services</u>, 436 U.S. 658 (1978). However, states, state agencies and state officials sued in their official capacities cannot be held liable under 1983 claims. *See*, <u>Will v. Michigan Department of State Police</u>, 491 U.S. 58 (1989).

addressed multiple issues. This included whether West Virginia Code §29-12-5 and the State's procurement of liability insurance impacted all available immunities.¹⁹ No such issue exist here.

<u>Marple</u> also included a discussion of qualified immunity and whether the State Board of Education had the discretion to terminate Ms. Marple's employment. The first key difference between <u>Marple</u> and this case relates back to this Court's analysis in <u>A.B.</u>, where the distinction between the protections afforded to political subdivisions/boards of education versus the State was described. There is no corollary State statute in which Ms. Marple's employment claim was expressly carved out. In this case the GTCA, West Virginia Code §29-12A-18(b), allows for exactly this type of carve out.

Yet, even if <u>Marple</u> were on point, Petitioners still miss the mark. That is because this Court did not simply provide the State with blanket qualified immunity against Ms. Marple's claim. Rather, this Court analyzed whether the State arguably violated any of her clearly established statutory or constitutional rights. In the end, Ms. Marple only identified a broad and inapplicable constitutional claim, just like the <u>Ruskauff</u> plaintiff.²⁰

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